Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-1-2006

Cooke v. State Appellant's Brief 1 Dckt. 32447

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Max Ritchie Cooke is presently serving sentences for second degree kidnapping, aggravated battery, and assault. In 2004, Mr. Cooke initiated a post-conviction case through which he has raised collateral challenges to the convictions and sentences in his underlying criminal case.

Ultimately, Mr. Cooke's amended petition for post-conviction relief was summarily dismissed by the district court. Mr. Cooke now appeals the district court's order of summary dismissal, contending that he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on each of the four claims for relief asserted in his amended petition.

Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

In 2003, Max Ritchie Cooke was convicted of one count of second degree kidnapping, one count of aggravated battery, and one count of assault, and received three concurrent prison sentences. (R., pp.11-12; 48.) He remains in the custody of the Idaho Department of Correction. (R., pp.11; 48.)

On October 5, 2004, Mr. Cooke filed a *pro se* petition for post-conviction relief and an attached affidavit of supporting facts. (R., pp.11-20.) The State filed two responsive memoranda, one on November 12, 2004, and one on January 28, 2005. (R., pp.34-38; 39-42.)

On April 6, 2005, the district court issued an order purporting to dismiss Mr. Cooke's petition, but at the same time allowing Mr. Cooke approximately 60 days to file an amended petition.¹ (R., pp.45-46.)

On June 6, 2005, Mr. Cooke, this time through counsel, filed a verified Amended Petition for Post-Conviction Relief. (R., pp.47-52.) In his amended petition, Mr. Cooke asserted four claims for relief:

- There is new evidence, not previously presented, which requires vacation of Mr. Cooke's conviction. Specifically, there is previously-unpresented evidence indicating that one of the State's key witnesses, the victim of Mr. Cooke's alleged crimes, Alison Cooke, was not competent to have testified at Mr. Cooke's trial due to memory losses suffered as a result of head injuries sustained in a motor vehicle accident.
- Mr. Cooke's trial counsel was ineffective for failing to: (a) procure the services of a medical expert who could have testified as to Ms. Cooke's incompetence or, at least, impeached her testimony with evidence that she was at substantial risk for having false memories; and (b) adequately cross-examining Ms. Cooke regarding her memory loss.
- 3) Mr. Cooke's trial counsel was ineffective for failing to timely file a notice of appeal as requested by Mr. Cooke.
- 4) Mr. Cooke was prevented from timely filing a *pro se* notice of appeal when the prison paralegal misadvised Mr. Cooke as to his filing deadline and refused to notarize or mail Mr. Cooke's notice of appeal.²

¹ It is Mr. Cooke's position that the district court's order, because it specifically contemplated the continuation of the same case, was more akin to a notice of intent to dismiss than an actual order of dismissal. (See R., p.45.)

² Mr. Cooke apparently abandoned a number of claims, originally made in his initial petition and affidavit, regarding his trial counsel's alleged ineffective assistance. (*Compare* R., pp.16-19 (original affidavit alleging ineffectiveness for failing to: (a) hire an investigator and/or accident reconstructionist; (b) call certain witnesses; (c) communicate with Mr. Cooke or provide Mr. Cooke with discovery materials; and (d) correct certain errors in the presentence investigation report) with 47-52 (amended petition asserting only the above-identified claims).) Nevertheless, the claim regarding trial counsel's alleged failure to hire an investigator was argued by the parties and ruled upon by the district court. (See Tr. Vol. II, p.2, Ls.13-15 (Mr. Bourne's assertion that "I think there is a claim that he failed to hire an accident reconstructionist"), p.10, L.9 – p.11, L.19 (colloquy between district court and Mr. Cooke's counsel regarding the accident reconstruction report that was actually used at Mr. Cooke's trial), p.12, L.8 - p.14, L.10 (identifying district court's concern that it could not know if the reconstruction report used at trial was inaccurate since Mr. Cooke had failed to obtain a second report in conjunction with his post-conviction case); p.16, L.22 – p.17, L.6 (apparently ruling on claim relating to accident reconstructionist); R., p.86 (denying claim relating to accident reconstructionier has failed to carry his

(See R., pp.47-52.) Mr. Cooke attached to his amended petition four affidavits. (See generally R., pp.54-61 (affidavit of Allison Cooke, attaching documents, including a medical report detailing her head injuries and the impact those injuries had on her memory and mental functioning generally,³ as well as a letter describing the motor vehicle accident which caused those injuries, asserting that, because of her memory problems, she was not competent when she testified at Mr. Cooke's trial), 62-63 (affidavit of Mr. Cooke detailing his conversations with the prison paralegal, and asserting that she refused to notarize his notice of appeal), 64-65 (affidavit of Mr. Cooke detailing his conversations with his trial counsel, and asserting that immediately after being sentenced he specifically requested that a notice of appeal be filed), 66-69 (affidavit of Timothy D. McMillin).)

On July 1, 2005, the State filed a joint response/motion for summary dismissal. (R., pp.71-74.) With regard to Mr. Cooke's two claims relating to Ms. Cook's memory loss, the State asserted that: (a) Ms. Cooke was, in fact, competent and reliable to testify at Mr. Cooke's trial;⁴ (b) because they were not contemporaneous with Ms. Cooke's trial testimony, the medical report attached to her affidavit, the letter

burden to prove that trial counsel was ineffective" for failing to hire an independent accident reconstructionist).)

Notwithstanding the fact that this particular claim was apparently tried by consent of the parties, see I.R.C.P. 15(b), Mr. Cooke does not now appeal the summary dismissal of that claim. He concedes that because he only alleged that, "[t]o the best of [his] knowledge" his trial counsel failed to hire an accident reconstructionst (as opposed to a more affirmative statement of fact) (R., p.16), he has failed to raise a genuine issue of material fact. However, this allegation is interesting since it makes it clear that Mr. Cooke was not kept abreast of the status of his case.

³ That medical report states that Ms. Cooke had received "a severe traumatic brain injury," that she was "disoriented and easily confused," that, "[s]he was not oriented to city, month, day of the month, or year," that she could not perform simple multiplication, that, "[s]he still appears to be in posttraumatic amnesia and has severe deficits with memory," that her "[r]easoning is ... still in the severe range of impairment," that she "is still demonstrating very severe problems with confusion, disorientation and severe memory impairment," that she is not "competent or even appropriate for a police or forensic evaluation or interview at this time," and that "her information will likely be misleading, unreliable, and she is at risk for developing new memories or false memories rather than accurately recalling what happened ..." (R., pp.59-60.)

attached to her affidavit, and the affidavit itself, are not relevant to Ms. Cooke's ability to accurately remember anything at the time she testified; and (c) as far as counsel for the State can personally recall, Ms. Cooke's letter and affidavit are consistent with her trial testimony and Ms. Cooke testified that she could remember some facts, but could not remember others.⁵ (R., pp.72-73.) With regard to Mr. Cooke's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for his attorney's failure to timely file a notice of appeal, the State, relying on an affidavit from Mr. Cooke's trial attorney, refuted Mr. Cook's characterization of the facts and claimed that Mr. Cooke's request for an appeal was made after the 42-day time limit for filing an appeal. (R., pp.73-74; 77-78.) Finally, with regard to Mr. Cooke's claim of denial of access to the courts, the State, relying on an affidavit from Janel Gardner, the prison paralegal, again refuted Mr. Cook's characterization of the facts and claimed that the prison paralegal did not misadvise Mr. Cooke regarding his time limit for filing a notice of appeal. (R., p.74; Affidavit of Janel Gardner, pp.1-2.)⁶ The State did not directly dispute, however, Mr. Cooke's contention that the paralegal had refused to notarize and mail his notice of appeal. (See Affidavit of Janel Gardner, pp.1-2.)7

⁴ The State offered no evidentiary support for this contention.

⁵ Because these allegations of fact by Roger Bourne, the prosecutor who evidently called Ms. Cooke to testify against Mr. Cooke, and who also drafted the State's motion for summary dismissal, are not supported by any evidence, such as an affidavit signed by Mr. Bourne, they are not evidence. *Meckling v. Fontes*, 125 Idaho 689, 693, 873 P.2d 1343, 1347 (Ct. App. 1994).

⁶ Ms. Gardner's affidavit is attached to a Motion to Augment Record, which is filed contemporaneously herewith.

⁷ The paralegal's affidavit admits that she does sometimes "turn inmates away" if they have not scheduled an appointment or if their paperwork is not complete, but it does not state whether she, in fact, turned Mr. Cooke away and, if so, specifically why she did so. (See Affidavit of Janel Gardner, p.2.)

On September 28, 2005, the district court held a hearing on the State's motion for summary dismissal. (*See generally* R., pp.83-84; Tr. Vol. II.)⁸ With regard to Mr. Cooke's two claims relating to Ms. Cooke's memory loss, Mr. Bourne, arguing for summary dismissal: (a) urged the district court to *remember* Ms. Cooke's testimony, and to find that Ms. Cooke was, in fact, competent when she gave that testimony (Tr. Vol. II, p.3, Ls.8-19); (b) offered *his opinion* that the jury rendered the verdicts that it did because it discounted Ms. Cooke's testimony to a certain degree, thereby indicating, perhaps, that Ms. Cooke was adequately impeached (*See* Tr., p.3, L.20 – p.4, L.4); (c) argued that, "the petitioner hasn't carried *his burden of proving* that there was more that could have been done to cross-examine Allison Cooke about the state of her memory" (Tr., p.4, Ls.5-8 (emphasis added)).

With regard to Mr. Cooke's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for his attorney's failure to timely file a notice of appeal, Mr. Bourne argued that Mr. Cooke's trial counsel's affidavit was more persuasive than Mr. Cooke's own sworn statements because it was corroborated by the prison paralegal's affidavit.⁹ (Tr. Vol. II, p.4, L.15 – p.5, L.9.) He also argued that, assuming Mr. Cooke's counsel had rendered deficient performance by failing to timely file a notice of appeal, Mr. Cooke could not demonstrate any prejudice because he failed to identify what issue might have been appealed and he failed prove that he would have been successful on appeal. (Tr. Vol. II, p.5, L.10 –

⁸ There are two separately-bound transcripts in the record in this case. The transcript of an August 16, 2005, hearing is referenced herein as "Tr. Vol. I," and the transcript of the September 28, 2005, hearing is referenced as "Tr. Vol. II."

⁹ It is notable that in arguing that the two affidavits (both of which appear to have been drafted by Mr. Bourne himself) corroborate one another, Mr. Bourne discussed his "recollection" of facts which don't appear in either affidavit. (*Compare Tr. Vol. II*, p.4, L.18 – p.5, L.1 (arguing that the paralegal had records showing that Mr. Cooke made certain requests on certain dates and that these dates were consistent with Mr. Cooke's trial attorney's records) with R., pp.76-78 (trial counsel's affidavit, which vaguely asserts that

p.6, L.2.) Finally, with regard to Mr. Cooke's claim of denial of access to the courts, Mr. Bourne argued implicitly that the prison paralegal's affidavit was more persuasive than Mr. Cooke's own sworn statements (See Tr. Vol. II, p.4, L.17 – p.5, L.1) and expressed *his* opinion of what the true facts are: "I think that the defendant went there [to the prison paralegal] late then asked her to file certain things or mail certain things to the attorney, which she did and it—and it was too late." (Tr. Vol. II, p.5, Ls.2-5.)

After Mr. Bourne concluded his remarks, Mr. Cooke's counsel presented arguments in opposition to summary dismissal and fielded numerous questions posed by the district court. (See generally Tr. Vol. II, p.6, L.8 – p.15, L.5.) During that colloquy, the district court made it clear that, based on its memory of Mr. Cooke's underlying criminal case, it disagreed with Mr. Cooke's counsel's characterization of the letter attached to Ms. Cooke's affidavit:

THE COURT: She never testified to that at the trial. She didn't testify as to whether or not this was an accident, a true accident. The evidence that came out at the trial was is [sic] that, from the investigation, it was apparent to those that investigated this case that Mr. Ritchie [sic], after the vehicle left the road, accelerated. He did not decelerate. There was no braking. It was acceleration demonstrated through that field. So, Ms. Cooke did not testify to that.¹⁰

(Tr. Vol. II, p.10, Ls.9-17.) Ultimately, the district court granted the State's motion for summary dismissal. (Tr. Vol. II, p.16, L.6 – p.18, L.3.) The district court based its grant of summary dismissal upon two conclusions. First, it found that Mr. Cooke failed to show that Ms. Cooke was incompetent when she testified because "[t]he court can

Mr. Cooke did not request an appeal until after the 42-day time limit had run) and Affidavit of Janel Gardner (saying nothing about the dates when any interactions with Mr. Cooke had occurred).)

¹⁰ Interestingly, the district court's recollection of the underlying criminal case differs markedly from Mr. Bourne's recollection of that case (R., p.73 ("The undersigned's recollection of her testimony is that her letter and affidavit are generally consistent with her testimony.").) Moreover, it demonstrates precisely why Mr. Cooke should receive a new trial: because Ms. Cooke's testimony, which the State used against

certainly take notice of the fact that she—during the course of her direct as well as cross-examination, she was oriented as to time, date, and place. She was responsive to the questions before her. She readily admitted that she had memory lapses during that process." (Tr. Vol. II, p.16, Ls.11-18.) Second, it concluded that the outcome of Mr. Cooke's case would not have been different if he had appealed his conviction. (Tr. Vol. II, p.17, Ls.7-23.)

On October 6, 2005, the district court entered an order memorializing and adding further detail to its grant of the State's motion for summary disposition. (See generally R., pp.85-88.) With regard to Ms. Cooke's trial testimony (which, of course, relates to the first and second claims in Mr. Cooke's amended petition), the district court summarily rejected Ms. Cooke's sworn statement in which she asserted that her memory was not intact, and that she did not know what was going on, when she testified at Mr. Cooke's trial. (R., p.86.) It apparently did so based on its memory of Ms. Cooke's trial testimony and its belief, based upon that recollection, that Ms. Cooke was lucid when she testified: "The Court takes notice that when Ms. Cooke testified, she was oriented as to time and place and was able to testify that she remembered

Mr. Cooke, was markedly different from the facts that Ms. Cooke recalls now that she has more fully recovered from her brain injuries.

¹¹ As was set forth in some detail in Mr. Cooke's Motion to Remand Case, filed with this Court on August 1, 2006, it is Mr. Cooke's contention that the district court's October 6, 2005 order looks more like a notice of intent to dismiss than an actual order of dismissal because it allowed Mr. Cooke twenty days in which to file an second amended petition for post-conviction relief. (R., p.88.) However, this Court determined that that order is, in fact, a final appealable order. (Order Denying Motion to Remand Case (Sept. 13, 2006).)

This Court's Order Denying Motion to Remand Case holds that, "the Order Dismissing Petition Petition for Post Conviction Relief filed with this Court November 7, 2005, is final." (Order Denying Motion to Remand Case, p.1.) Undersigned counsel presumes that the November 7, 2005, order in question is the same order that the district court issued on October 6, 2005, since the district court has informed undersigned counsel that the October 6, 2005, order was the last document filed in Mr. Cooke's case in the district court, and this Court has provided undersigned counsel with a copy of the October 6, 2005, order which also bears a file stamp from this Court indicating that it was received on November 7, 2005.

certain things and did not remember others. She was responsive to questions and was appropriate in every respect. The jury was informed through her testimony that she had some memory lapses." (R., p.86.) The district court also discounted the medical evidence related to Ms. Cooke's brain injury because that injury and the subsequent medical report preceded Ms. Cooke's trial testimony by five months. (R., p.86.) Ultimately, the district court ruled that Mr. Cooke's claims failed because he failed to prove that Ms. Cooke was incompetent: "The Court is satisfied that Ms. Cooke was competent to testify. The petitioner has not carried his burden to show that trial counsel was ineffective in any respect regarding Ms. Cooke." (R., p.86.)

With regard to Mr. Cooke's trial attorney's failure to timely file a notice of appeal on Mr. Cooke's behalf (which relates to the third claim in Mr. Cooke's amended petition), the district court, after reviewing the evidence proffered by both parties, chose to believe the State's evidence over that which was offered by Mr. Cooke: "After a review of the affidavit of trial counsel and of the prison paralegal, the Court finds that the petitioner did not ask trial counsel to file an appeal until after the appeal time had run." (R., p.87.) The district court also ruled, alternatively, that Mr. Cooke could not prevail as a matter of law because, even if Mr. Cooke's trial counsel had timely been asked to file a notice of appeal, Mr. Cooke failed to even allege prejudice from trial counsel's failure to do so because Mr. Cooke did not point out what issue might have been appealed, much less did he prove that he could have won on appeal:

Further, the Court finds that the petitioner has not shown that there was any appealable issue. The Court is satisfied that the verdict and the sentence are fully supported by the record. The Court knows of no appealable issue which would likely have been settled in the petitioner's favor. The Court finds that the petitioner has not shown ineffective

assistance of counsel regarding the appeal and has not shown prejudice to himself from the lack of an appeal.

(R., p.87.)

In its October 6, 2005, order summarily dismissing Mr. Cooke's amended petition, the district court did not even address Mr. Cooke's fourth claim in his amended petition—that he had been denied access to the courts when the prison paralegal refused to notarize Mr. Cooke's notice of appeal. (*See generally* R., pp.85-88.) Rather, after discussing Mr. Cooke's third claim, the district court concluded by dismissing Mr. Cooke's amended petition entirely: "[T]he State's Motion to Dismiss the Amended Petition is granted and the Amended Petition is dismissed. The petitioner has twenty days from September 28, 2005, to file an Amended Petition for Post Conviction Relief." (R., pp.87-88.)

Instead of filing a second amended petition for post-conviction relief, on October 27, 2005, Mr. Cooke filed a Notice of Appeal. (R., pp.89-91.) On appeal, Mr. Cooke contends that the district court erred in summarily dismissing his amended petition for post-conviction relief, and he requests that the order of dismissal be vacated and his case remanded for an evidentiary hearing on each of his four claims.

<u>ISSUE</u>

Did the district err in summarily dismissing Mr. Cooke's amended petition for post-conviction relief?

ARGUMENT

1.

The District Court Erred In Summarily Dismissing Mr. Cooke's Amended Petition For Post-Conviction Relief

A Petition for Post-Conviction Relief is separate and distinct from the underlying criminal action which led to the petitioner's conviction. *Peltier v. State*, 119 Idaho 454, 456, 808 P.2d 373, 375 (1991). It is a civil proceeding governed by the Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act (*hereinafter*, UPCPA) (I.C. §§ 19-4901 to -4911) and the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure. *Peltier*, 119 Idaho at 456, 808 P.2d at 375.

Just as I.R.C.P. 56 provides for summary judgment in other civil proceedings, the UPCPA allows for summary disposition of post-conviction petitions where there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and one party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. I.C. § 19-4906(c). In analyzing a post-conviction petition under this standard, the district court need not "accept either the applicant's mere conclusory allegations, unsupported by admissible evidence, or the applicant's conclusions of law." *Martinez*, 126 Idaho at 816-817, 892 P.2d at 491-492. However, if the petitioner presents some shred of evidentiary support for his allegations, the district court must take the petitioner's allegations as true, at least until such time as they are controverted by the State. *Tramel v. State*, 92 Idaho 643, 646, 448 P.2d 649, 652 (1968). This is so even if the allegations appear incredible on their face. *Id.* Thus, only after the State controverts the petitioner's allegations can the district court consider the evidence. *Drapeau v. State*, 103 Idaho 612, 651 P.2d 546 (Ct. App. 1982). But in doing so, it must

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