UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-10-2008

Cooke v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 32447

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

ARGUMENT

I. <u>Cooke Has Failed To Establish The District Court Erred In Admitting Cooke's</u> <u>Threatening Statements</u>

A. <u>Introduction</u>

During trial, the state presented testimony that Cooke made threats to Alison directly and to others about Alison and a man with whom he believed she was having a relationship. Prior to trial, the district court ruled this evidence was relevant and not unduly prejudicial. On appeal, Cooke claims this ruling was in error because the court "was without any knowledge of how many of the State's witnesses would be presenting this evidence or how many of Mr. Cooke's past threats each of these witnesses would present." (Appellant's Brief, p.17.) Thus, Cooke concludes, "the district court was without a proper legal or factual basis upon which to conclude that the probative value of these allegations was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice" (Appellant's Brief, p.17.) Cooke's argument lacks legal or factual merit.

B. Standard Of Review

Whether evidence is relevant is a question of law reviewed *de novo*. <u>State v. Atkinson</u>, 124 Idaho 816, 819, 864 P.2d 654, 657 (Ct. App. 1993) (citations omitted). However, the abuse of discretion standard applies to the district court's determination that the probative value of the evidence is not substantially outweighed by unfair prejudice. Id.

C. Evidence Of Cooke's Prior Threats Was Not Unduly Prejudicial

Evidence is admissible if it is relevant so long as it is not unduly prejudicial or otherwise subject to exclusion. I.R.E. 402, 403. On appeal, Cooke does not challenge the district court's determination that Cooke's threats were relevant, but instead argues only that the district court abused its discretion when it determined Cooke's threats "did not substantially outweigh the probative value of these statements." (Appellant's Brief, p.19.) More specifically, Cooke asserts the court could not conduct a proper I.R.E. 403 analysis because it was "without necessary information about how many witnesses would testify to these statements, how many statements each witness would testify to, and the specific content of these statements." (Appellant's Brief, p.19.) This argument is unsupported by fact or law.

The state provided the court with adequate information upon which to base its decision, and Cooke never objected to the adequacy of that information. In its Brief, the state outlined its theory of the case and advised that Cooke made "several threats to Alison Cooke" and "told other people that he would kill Alison if he found out that she was speaking to another man." (#34820 R., p.14.) At the hearing wherein the parties discussed the threats, the prosecutor further detailed the nature of the evidence the state intended to offer:

And about November of 2002, particularly about Thanksgiving-time until the crash, which was the middle of January, so roughly six or seven weeks, the defendant made a number of statements about his intention to kill Alison Cooke if she attempted to leave him or if he found out that she was talking to a fellow on the telephone who he was suspicious of. That fellow's name is Shane. And he made those statements to her. And he made the statements to a couple of her friends and a couple of her relatives, her brother and sister.

On the very night that [the wreck] happened, which was - - actually, it occurred early in the morning on Saturday, but it was Friday night - - the defendant made a call to this Shane, who he believed was - - or who he believed either was trying to have an affair with Alison or that Alison was talking to him on the telephone and said to this Shane on the telephone, "if I find out that Alison has been talking to you, I'll make headline news." That was within a couple of hours of the crash, itself.

(#34820 Tr., p.6, L.18 – p.7, L.18.)

. . . .

That the prosecutor did not specifically identify the precise number of statements the state sought to admit did not render the information provided inadequate for purposes of determining whether the prejudicial value of the statements substantially outweighed their probative value. Nor was the prosecutor required to relay precisely the threat each witness would testify about or the precise number of witnesses who would testify in that regard (although the state did indicate "he made the statements to a couple of her friends and a couple of her relatives, her brother and sister," to Shane, and to Alison herself (#34820 Tr., p.6, L.25 – p.7, L.3, p.7, Ls.10-18; R., p.14)). Cooke has failed to cite any authority to the contrary (see generally Appellant's Brief, pp.17-20), and he failed to complain below about the adequacy of the information provided to the district court in considering the admissibility of the threats (see #34820 Tr., p.9, L.17 - p.11, L.3). Cooke's argument that the court lacked adequate information to conduct a proper analysis as required by I.R.E. 403 is without merit.

Cooke alternatively argues "[e]ven assuming, arguendo, that the district court could adequately assess the overall prejudice to Mr. Cooke without knowing how many statements the State was seeking admission for, the probativeness of the majority of these statements was low, and was substantially outweighed by the potential for prejudice." (Appellant's Brief, p.20.) The centerpiece of this alternative argument appears to be the timing of some of the threats relative to the wreck. (Appellant's Brief, p.20.) Cooke does not identify what specific statements he believes should have been excluded as unduly prejudicial due to their time, but instead generally asserts, "Most of the witnesses testifying regarding Mr. Cooke's prior alleged threats testified to statements made seven weeks prior to the charges at issue" and gives a reference to several blocks of pages in the trial transcript. (Appellant's Brief, pp.20-21.) A review of the pages cited reveals that the testimony relates Cooke's threats and actions at various times between the end of November, when he and Alison separated, up to the night before the wreck occurred. That some of Cooke's threats were made at the end of November, approximately seven weeks prior to the wreck, does not render them unduly prejudicial. Cooke began making threats around the time he and Alison separated and he continued doing so up until he committed the crimes in this case. All of those threats were relevant to prove Cooke's intent and the absence of an accident and any potential prejudice relating to those statements did not substantially outweigh their probative value. Cooke has failed to establish otherwise.

Cooke Has Failed To Show The Prosecutor Committed Misconduct During Closing Argument, Much Less That His Comments Rose To The Level Of Fundamental Error

A. Introduction

Cooke did not object at trial to the prosecutor's closing argument. Nevertheless, he contends on appeal that the prosecutor made improper comments during closing argument that prejudiced his right to a fair trial. (Appellant's Brief, pp.24-27.) Cooke has failed, however, to show that the prosecutor committed misconduct, much less that his comments amounted to fundamental error.

B. Standard Of Review

When a defendant fails to timely object at trial to alleged improper closing arguments by the prosecutor, the conviction will be set aside for prosecutorial misconduct only when the conduct is sufficiently egregious to result in fundamental error. <u>State v. Phillips</u>, 144 Idaho 82, 88, 156 P.3d 583, 589 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing <u>State v. Sheahan</u>, 139 Idaho 267, 280-81, 77 P.3d 956, 969-70 (2003)). Such error is fundamental only if it is

"calculated to inflame the minds of jurors and arouse passion or prejudice against the defendant, or is so inflammatory that the jurors may be influenced to determine guilt on factors outside the evidence." *State v. Babb*, 125 Idaho 934, 942, 877 P.2d 905, 913 (1994). More specifically, "[p]rosecutorial misconduct during closing arguments will constitute fundamental error only if the comments were so egregious or inflammatory that any consequent prejudice could not have been remedied by a ruling from the trial court informing the jury that the comments should be disregarded." *State v. Cortez*, 135 Idaho 561, 565, 21 P.3d 498, 502 (Ct. App. 2001).

H.

Sheahan, 139 Idaho at 280, 77 P.3d at 969.

C. <u>The Prosecutor's Comments Did Not Constitute Misconduct, Much Less</u> Fundamental Error That Can Be Raised For The First Time On Appeal

Prosecutors have considerable latitude in closing argument and have the right to discuss the evidence and the inferences and deductions arising therefrom. <u>Sheahan</u>, 139 Idaho at 280, 77 P.3d at 969; <u>Phillips</u>, 144 Idaho at 86, 156 P.3d at 587. The purpose of the prosecutor's closing argument is to enlighten the jury and help the jurors remember and interpret the evidence. State v. Reynolds, 120 Idaho 445, 450, 816 P.2d 1002, 1007 (Ct. App. 1991).

Cooke admits he did not object to any of the prosecutor's closing argument at trial. (Appellant's Brief, p.24.) As such, this Court cannot consider his claims of prosecutorial misconduct during closing argument unless the prosecutor's comments constituted fundamental error. <u>State v. MacDonald</u>, 131 Idaho 367, 956 P.2d 1314 (Ct. App. 1998). Such error is fundamental only if the comments were so egregious or inflammatory that any prejudice arising therefrom could not have been remedied by a ruling from the trial court informing the jury that the comments should be disregarded. <u>State v. Smith</u>, 117 Idaho 891, 898, 792 P.2d 916, 923 (1990); <u>State v. Missamore</u>, 114 Idaho 879, 761 P.2d 1231 (Ct. App. 1988); <u>State v. Ames</u>, 109 Idaho 373, 707 P.2d 484 (Ct. App. 1985). Cooke cannot meet this burden.

During his closing argument, the prosecutor discussed the evidence from which the jury could conclude Cooke had the intent necessary to be convicted of aggravated battery. (#34820 Tr., p.500, L.4 – p.515, L.9.) In doing so, he

discussed the threats Cooke made to Alison directly and to others about her and Cooke's verbal abuse towards Alison. (#34820 Tr., p.500, L.18 - p.505, L.24.) Cooke argues the prosecutor's comments were not offered to show intent, but "to show propensity to commit the acts charged in the case" and to "inflame the passions and prejudice of the jury so as to induce them to find Mr. Cooke guilty based on prior bad acts, rather than on the basis of the actual crimes alleged." (Appellant's Brief, pp.24-25.) Cooke's argument fails to show error, much less fundamental error reviewable for the first time on appeal.

All of the testimony regarding Cooke's threats, which the prosecutor discussed in closing argument, was properly admitted and Cooke has failed to show otherwise. Cooke has failed to cite any authority for the proposition that it is misconduct for a prosecutor to refer to evidence that has been admitted at trial, and has therefore failed to properly present this issue for review. <u>State v. Zichko</u>, 129 Idaho 259, 263, 923 P.2d 966, 970 (1996).

Moreover, Cooke cannot establish the prosecutor's discussion of the evidence was so egregious or inflammatory that any resulting prejudice could not have been remedied by a curative instruction. Indeed, Cooke seems to suggest otherwise in that he complains about the lack of an instruction informing the jury the "prior bad acts evidence was only admissible to demonstrate Mr. Cooke's intent on the night in question." (Appellant's Brief, p.26 n.5.) Absent such an instruction, Cooke reasons, "it is entirely probable that the jury believed that it was entitled to consider the prior bad acts that Mr. Cooke was alleged to have

committed as evidence that he acted in conformity with those prior acts." (Appellant's Brief, pp.26-27.) This argument fails for two reasons.

First, Cooke is incorrect that the jury was not instructed regarding the limited purpose of the "prior bad acts" evidence. (Appellant's Brief, p.26 n.5.) Instruction 12(a) advised the jury:

Evidence has been introduced for the purpose of showing that the defendant committed wrongs or acts other than that for which the defendant is on trial.

Such evidence, if believed, is not to be considered by you to prove the defendant's character or that the defendant has a disposition to commit crimes.

Such evidence may be considered by you only for the limited purpose of proving the defendant's motive, preparation, plan or absence of mistake or accident.

(#34820 R., p.44.)

Second, even absent Instruction 12(a), the failure to give or request an instruction does not establish misconduct on the part of the prosecutor. The prosecutor was entitled to discuss evidence of Cooke's prior threats, which was properly admitted to demonstrate Cooke's intent in relation to the crimes with which he was charged. That Cooke believes an instruction would have assisted the jury in limiting the purpose for which it considered that evidence is not relevant to whether the prosecutor engaged in misconduct by discussing it in the first instance. More importantly, Cooke's belief demonstrates there was no fundamental error.

The prosecutor's discussion of Cooke's prior threats during closing argument was nothing more than a fair comment on the evidence properly

admitted at trial and the inferences and deductions arising therefrom. <u>Sheahan</u>, 139 Idaho at 280, 77 P.3d at 969; <u>Phillips</u>, 144 Idaho at 86, 156 P.3d at 587. Cooke has thus failed to establish the prosecutor committed misconduct, much less made comments so egregious and inflammatory they resulted in a denial of due process.

III. There Is No Trial Error To Accumulate

Under the doctrine of cumulative error, a series of errors, harmless in themselves, may in the aggregate show the absence of a fair trial. <u>State v.</u> <u>Stevens</u>, _____ Idaho ____, 191 P.3d 217, 226 (2008). A necessary predicate to application of the doctrine is a finding of more than one error. <u>Id.</u>; <u>State v.</u> <u>Hawkins</u>, 131 Idaho 396, 958 P.2d 22 (Ct. App. 1998). Cooke has failed to show that two or more errors occurred in his trial, and therefore the doctrine is inapplicable to this case. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>Stevens</u>, _____ Idaho at ____, 191 P.3d at 226; <u>LaBelle v. State</u>, 130 Idaho 115, 121, 937 P.2d 427, 433 (Ct. App. 1997). Even if errors in the trial had been shown, they would not amount to a denial of due process that would require reversal. <u>State v. Gray</u>, 129 Idaho 784, 804, 932 P.2d 907, 927 (Ct. App. 1997); <u>State v. Barcella</u>, 135 Idaho 191, 204, 16 P.3d 288, 301 (Ct. App. 2001) (accumulation of errors deemed harmless).

IV. <u>Cooke Has Failed To Establish The District Court Erred In Concluding He Was</u> <u>Not Entitled To Post-Conviction Relief Based Upon His Claim That Counsel Was</u> <u>Ineffective In Relation To Alison's Testimony</u>

A. Introduction

In his petition for post-conviction relief, Cooke asserted, *inter alia*, his attorney was ineffective in failing to investigate Alison's competency to testify at trial. Cooke offered an affidavit from Alison in support of his petition, which was admitted at the evidentiary hearing, and called Alison as a witness at the hearing. The district court ultimately denied relief, concluding Cooke failed to establish Alison was incompetent to testify at trial and failed to establish prejudice in relation to her trial testimony. On appeal, Cooke claims the district court erred for three reasons: (1) the court abused its discretion by failing to admit Alison's affidavit as evidence at the hearing; (2) the court "entered clearly erroneous findings of fact, and misapplied those facts to the relevant law, when it determined that the new evidence presented regarding Ms. Cooke's lack of competence as a witness did not warrant a new trial;" and (3) the court erred in determining Cooke's attorney was not ineffective. (Appellant's Brief, pp.28-38.) All of these arguments lack merit.

Alison's affidavit, with the exception of paragraph 3, was admitted at the evidentiary hearing. Cooke's claim to the contrary is unsupported by the record.

Cooke has likewise failed to establish error in relation to the district court's factual findings, and he has failed to establish the district court misapplied the law. The district court correctly concluded Cooke failed to meet his burden of

establishing Alison was incompetent to testify at trial or that counsel was ineffective in failing to challenge her competency.

B. Standard Of Review

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